
Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session.  

Please ask for:
Graham Seal

11 January 2019
Dear Councillor

You are requested to attend a special meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH 
COUNCIL CABINET to be held on Tuesday 22 January 2019 at 7.30pm in the Council 
Chamber, Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City, Herts, AL8 6AE.

Yours faithfully

Corporate Director
Public Protection, Planning and Governance  

A G E N D A
PART 1

1.  APOLOGIES 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS BY MEMBERS 

To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-
disclosable pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of 
items on the Agenda.

3.  ITEM RELATING TO THE BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR 
RECOMMENDATION TO THE COUNCIL 

To consider the following item:-

(a)   Budget 2019/20 (Pages 3 - 6)

Report of the Executive Director (Resources, Environment and 
Cultural Services) providing an update on the budget proposals for 
recommendation to the Council.

Public Document Pack



(b)   Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 14 January 2019 
(Pages 7 - 8)

To consider the comments of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee at its meeting on 14 January 2019 on the budget proposals 
and medium term forecasts 2019/20 (circulated separately).

(c)   Retail Relief Guidelines and Business Rate 2018 Budget Changes 
(Pages 9 - 16)

Report of the Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and 
Cultural Services) on agreement of a business rate local relief 
scheme.

4.  ESTABLISHING A LOCAL HOUSING COMPANY (Pages 17 - 26)

Joint report of the Corporate Directors (Housing and Communities) and 
(Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) on the establishment of a 
wholly Council-owned housing company to help meet local housing need.

Circulation: Councillors T.Kingsbury (Chairman)
D.Bell (Vice-Chairman)
S.Boulton
T.Mitchinson

N.Pace
B.Sarson
F.Thomson

Corporate Management Team
Press and Public (except Part II Items)

If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact 
Graham Seal, Governance Services on 01707 357444 or email – 
democracy@welhat.gov.uk 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


Part I
Main author: Richard Baker
Executive Member: Duncan Bell
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
SPECIAL CABINET – 22 JANUARY 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (RESOURCES, ENVIRONMENT AND 
CULTURAL SERVICES)

BUDGET 2019/20

1 Executive Summary

1.1 The proposed 2019/20 budget papers were discussed at the Cabinet meeting on 
8 January 2019.  This report provides an update to these proposals for 
recommendation to Council.  

1.2 The budget papers approved at the 8 January Cabinet meeting were presented to 
the Resources and Overview Scrutiny Committee (ROSC) on 14 January 2019, 
and this report outlines any feedback and/or recommendations to Cabinet arising  
from that committee. 

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 That Cabinet consider the comments and recommendations made by Resources 
and Overview Scrutiny Committee on 14 January 2019.

2.2 That Cabinet recommend the budget 2019/20 and associated papers to Council 
for approval.

3 Explanation

Recommendations/Comments from ROSC

3.1 Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee met on 14 January 2019 to 
consider the budget proposals, and to provide any comments or 
recommendations. 

3.2 Due to the timing of ROSC, the minutes will be published separately but 
members will receive a copy before the Special Cabinet meeting.

4 Financial Implication(s)

4.1 The financial implications are set out within the reports submitted to cabinet on 
the 8 January 2019.

5 Link to Corporate Priorities

5.1 The Council’s budget proposals directly support all of the Council’s Corporate 
Priorities. 

6 Legal Implication(s)

6.1 The Council is required by the Local Government Finance Act 1992 to make 
estimates of gross revenue expenditure and anticipated income, leading to a 
calculation of a council tax requirement and the setting of an overall budget and 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3a



Council Tax. The amount of the budget requirement must be sufficient to meet 
the Council’s legal and financial obligations, ensure the proper discharge of its 
statutory duties, and lead to a balanced budget. The Council should be satisfied 
that the proposals put forward are a reasonably prudent use of resources in both 
the short and long term, and that the interests of both Council Tax payers and 
ratepayers on the one hand and the users of Council services on the other are 
both taken into account.

6.2 The principal statutory provision governing the fixing of rent for council property is 
contained in section 24 of the Housing Act 1985. This has now been 
supplemented by provisions in the Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 that 
details enforced rent reductions by local authorities and was passed in March 
2016.

6.3 Sub-section (1) provides that authorities may “…make such reasonable 
charges…. as they may determine”. This section should be considered with 
regard to section 76 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. This act put 
a duty on local housing authorities to prevent a debit balance arising in their HRA 
and also imposed ring-fence restrictions on the use of the account. It is now no 
longer possible for a local housing authority to subsidise rents from its general 
fund, or use HRA resources for non-specified activities.

6.4 The MTFS sets out the framework for setting future budgets and levels of Council 
Tax. Members are reminded that Council must take into account the advice of 
the Executive Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) (Chief 
Finance Officer) on the robustness of future budget proposals and the adequacy 
of the proposals for reserves. The Council has a legal duty to set a lawfully 
balanced budget.

6.5 The MTFS sets out how the Council will fulfil its Best Value Duty to make 
arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions 
are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness.  In doing so the MTFS also acknowledges the Duty to Consult 
representatives of a wide range of local persons.  

6.6 The treasury Management Strategy and prudential indictors have been produced 
in line with the Local Government Act 2003, and with regards to Section 151 of 
the Local Government Act 1972 which states that “every local authority shall 
make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs and 
shall secure that one of their officers has responsibility for the administration of 
those affairs.”

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1 There are no security and terrorism implications with the recommendation in this 
report.  

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1 There are no procurement implications arising directly from this report.

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1 None

Page 4



10 Risk Management Implications

10.1 The budget is an important part of the Council’s risk management process. There 
are considerable risks to the council’s short and medium term budget strategy 
including the impact of public sector austerity, inflation and other changes in the 
national economy, spending exceeding budgets, pressures on existing budgets, 
further reductions in grant and legislative change demands for new spend. The 
budget process includes the recognition of these risks in determining the 2019/20 
budget and relevant risk provisions are set out in the body of the report.

10.2 A working balance is maintained for both revenue accounts to cushion against 
known and unknown financial risks. Risk management in the financial context is 
set out in Medium Term Financial Strategy set out in appendix L.

11 Equality and Diversity

11.1 In developing individual budget proposals officers have undertaken an equality 
impact assessment, where applicable. 

Name of author Richard Baker
Title Head of Resources
Date 14 January 2019

Appendices (References as per 8 January 2019 Budget Report)

Budget papers submitted to 8 January 2019 Cabinet

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



    Part 1
                Item No:

                      For Decision

WELWYN HATFIELD BROROUGH COUNCIL
SPECIAL CABINET – 22 JANUARY 2019

Comments from the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 14 January 
2019:-

2019/20 BUDGET REPORT:

The Committee considered a report of Corporate Director (Resources, Environment 
and Cultural Services) which advised that the Cabinet at its meeting held on 8 January 
2019 had considered the details for the proposed Capital Programme, Housing 
Revenue Account Budget, Medium Term Financial Strategy and the Treasury 
Management, Capital and Investment Strategies for financial year 2019/20.  

In accordance with the Council’s budget and policy framework rules, the Resources 
and Overview Scrutiny Committee was formally invited to consider the proposals as 
part of the budget setting process and make comments to the Special Cabinet meeting 
on 22 January 2019.

Officers summarised the Budget 2019/20 proposals and advised that the Budget 
briefing held for Members in November/December were well attended and useful.  

During discussion the following points were raised and addressed:-

 The proposed increase in the Council’s average Band D Tax is 2.5% for 
2019/20 – an increase of £5.16.  Members were asked by the Chairman of their 
views on the proposal.  Members agreed that it was a reasonable increase 
given the Council’s financial circumstances. 

 Hertfordshire had been selected as one of the fifteen areas to take part in the 
75% business rates retention pilot scheme in 2019/20.  There was a predicated 
budget gap of £1.5m in 2020/21, which needs to be closed.  There are a lot of 
uncertainties regarding the Spending Review 2019, Fair Funding Review, New 
Homes Bonus review, Business Rates Retention system reset.  The budget 
setting process will start a lot earlier, in preparation of additional work that would 
need to be carried out to help reduce the deficit. 

 Clarification was sought on the Medium Term Plan in respect of spending 
review.  Officers advised that no one knows any details and that the LGA knows 
very little detail about it at this stage.

 The Council will receive £1.3m from the New Homes Bonus grant for the 
financial year 2019/20 all of the income would be used to support base budget 
expenditure.  Members were advised that the Government would be carrying 
out a further reform of the New Homes Bonus grant by 2020/21. 

 Levels of reserves were considered and it was clarified that a further £1.5m of 
savings on the General Fund by 2020/21 would be required. Further clarification 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3b



was sought on the contribution to/from earmarked reserves in relation to 
collection fund surplus.  

 Gambling charges had been reduced; as the cost to deliver the service has 
reduced and that it is not possible to make a profit via licensing.

 It was noted that the 2019/20 budget proposals include management fee 
savings from the GLL/Finesse merger.  

 Empty properties and exemption for small business premises. Officers advised 
that there was a certain criteria that had to be met and a briefing note would be 
provided to Committee Members. Members suggested that the fees and 
charges should be faced with incremental increases, otherwise users/residents 
would be faced with large increases every few years.

 Sufficient funds to be allocated to combat anti-social behaviour (ASB) within 
Woodall area and Town Centre.  A discussion ensued on the use of initiatives 
such as the YMCA club and the likely fall in ASB when youngsters attend the 
YMCA club; a possible correlation between the YMCA opening and ASB. 
Additional funds should be considered to provide extra opening times at the 
YMCA.  It was noted that a report on Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy was due 
to be discussed at the next Social Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

 Questions were asked about the Capital programme - GIS upgrade, which is a 
mapping system being used for location identification for informing the public.  
Officers explained that it was necessary to have these systems due to 
transparency and the current system was coming to the end of its useful life 
and new website development.

 Members were advised that net borrowing would be increasing as funds would 
be utilised for investment; especially in property and affordable housing 
development.  

 Various items listed on the proposed Capital Expenditure Programme were 
explained.

RESOLVED:

That the Committee’s comments on the Council’s budget proposals for 2019/20 
be submitted to the Special Cabinet meeting on 22 January 2019 for 
consideration following which the budget would be presented to Council 
meeting 4 February 2019.

Page 8



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Farhad Cantel
Executive Member: Duncan Bell
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
SPECIAL CABINET – 22 JANUARY 2019 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (RESOURCES, ENVIRONMENT AND 
CULTURAL SERVICES)

RETAIL RELIEF GUIDELINES AND BUSINESS RATE 2018 BUDGET CHANGES

1 Executive Summary

1.1 The purpose of this report is to agree a business rate local retail relief scheme, 
following an announcement on this new form of relief in the 2018 budget and to 
also update Cabinet on the other business rate changes announced in the 
budget.

1.2 The chancellor announced the following business rate changes in the October 
2018 budget. 

 Reduce rate bills by one third for retail properties with a rateable value below 
51,000, for 2 years from April 2019.

 100% rate relief for all public lavatories.

 Continue with the £1,500 business rate discount for office space occupied by 
local newspapers in 2019/20.

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 Cabinet recommends to Council that Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council’s local 
retail relief scheme, shown in appendix A, is agreed. 

2.2 Cabinet notes the other business rate changes announced in the 2018 budget.    

3 Explanation

3.1 Retail Relief – This rates retail relief scheme will apply for the 2019/20 and 
2020/21 years.  Properties that will benefit from the relief will be occupied 
properties with a rateable value of less than £51,000, that are wholly or mainly 
being used as shops, restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments.   The value 
of relief will be one third of the bill, and applied after any other forms of relief that 
are already on the account. 

3.1.1 To qualify for the relief the business should be wholly or mainly being used as a 
shop, restaurant, cafe or drinking establishment. In a similar way to other reliefs, 
such as charity relief, this is a test on use rather than occupation. Therefore, 
properties which are occupied but not wholly or mainly used for the qualifying 
purpose will not qualify for the relief.  

3.1.2 It will be for individual local councils to adopt a local scheme and determine in 
each individual case when to grant relief.  We await the necessary software 
update from our business rate software supplier to identify the qualifying 
ratepayers. The guidelines for awarding this relief are shown in Appendix A.  

Page 9

Agenda Item 3c



- 2 -

3.2 Public Lavatory Relief – All public lavatories will qualify for 100% rate relief.

3.2.1 We have the following public conveniences in the borough:

 Market Place, Hatfield – Rates payable £1,704.00 
 Welwyn Parish Council, Lockleys Drive - Empty and exempt 
 Welwyn Garden City UDC, Bridge Road - Empty rates payable £5,792.75 

3.3 Local Newspapers - The Government will continue the £1,500 discount for office 
space occupied by local newspapers in 2019/20, up to a maximum of one 
discount per local newspaper title and per property.  This commenced in April 
2017 and was initially for only two years.  The Welwyn Hatfield Times is based in 
our borough. 

Implications

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 The Government is not changing the legislation around the reliefs available to 
properties. Instead, it is assumed that local authorities can use their discretionary 
relief powers, introduced by the Localism Act 2011, which amended section 47 of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1988. 

4.2 This allows a billing authority to grant relief if it is satisfied that it would be 
reasonable for it to do so, having regard to the interests of persons liable to pay 
council tax set by it. Each local authority will need to adopt a local scheme and 
determine when to grant relief, under section 47.

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1 Local authorities will be compensated in full for their loss of income as a result of 
these changes. This compensation will be paid in the same way as it has been 
previously, by section 31 grant, Local Government Act 2003, and calculated on 
the basis of the returns that the council makes under the rates retention scheme. 

5.2 The council will make full savings from the relief awarded to public conveniences.

6 Risk Management Implications

6.1 A risk assessment has not been prepared in relation to the proposal in this report 
as there are no significant risks inherent in the proposals.

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1 There are no security and terrorism implications with the recommendation in this 
report.  

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1 There are none.

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1 The proposals in this report will not impact on greenhouse gas emissions.

Page 10



- 3 -

10 Human Resources Implication(s)

10.1 There are none.

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s)

11.1 There are none.  

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s)

12.1 There are none.

13 Link to Corporate Priorities

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority: Our Council 
and achieving value for money.    

14 Equality and Diversity

14.1 An initial impact assessment has been carried out on our proposed guidelines 
and there was not any negative impact identified on any of the protected groups 
under Equalities legislation.

Name of author Farhad Cantel
Title Client Support Services Manager
Date December 2018

Page 11



- 4 -

Appendix A

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Local Retail Relief Scheme
Section 47 Local Government Finance Act 1988

1. Businesses that will benefit from the relief will be occupied properties with a 
rateable value of less than £51,000, that are wholly or mainly being used as 
shops, restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments, for the 2019/20 and 
2020/21 years.  

2. These guidelines will apply to future years should the scheme be extended.  
Relief will only be awarded for the years Government funding is available.

3. Properties that are occupied but not wholly or mainly used for the qualifying 
purpose, or meet the rateable value criteria, will not qualify for the relief.  

4. The definition of shops, restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments is shown 
in section 1.  This list is not exhaustive and is based on what the Government 
considers for this purpose to be retail. Properties that are not broadly similar in 
nature to those listed above will not be eligible for the relief.  Section 2 lists the 
properties which are not deemed to be retail for the purpose of this relief.

5. All business that meets core criteria are eligible for relief.  Ratepayers that 
occupy more than one property will be entitled to relief for each of their eligible 
properties. The £51,000 RV ceiling will not be based on the aggregate rateable 
value of all the businesses of a ratepayer.    This will be subject to State Aid De 
Minimis limits. The De Minimis Regulations allow an undertaking to receive up to 
€200,000 of De Minimis aid in a three year period (consisting of the current 
financial year and the two previous financial years). 

6. Eligible ratepayers will be identified and relief will be automatically awarded.  An 
application for retail relief will not need to be completed. 

7. The total amount relief available for each qualifying property for 2019-20 and 
2020/21 under this scheme is one third of the bill, after mandatory reliefs and 
other discretionary reliefs have been applied. There is no relief available under 
this scheme for properties with a rateable value of £51,000 or more.

8. The eligibility for the relief and the relief itself will be assessed and calculated on 
a daily basis, based on the following formula: 

9. Amount of relief to be granted = the daily charge for the property for the 
chargeable day after the application of any mandatory and discretionary reliefs/3.  
This will be calculated ignoring any prior year adjustments in liabilities which fall 
to be liable on the day.

10.The relief will be applied on a day to day basis using the formula set out above.  
A new property created as a result of a split or merger during the financial year, 
or where there is a change of use, will be considered afresh for the relief on that 
day.  

11.Relief can be retrospectively awarded for a qualifying property for a period up to 
18 months after the end of a qualifying year.

Page 12



- 5 -

12.Section 47 discretionary rate relief awards are administered under the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988 and awards are not subject to a statutory appeals 
process.  Appeals therefore will be decided by Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 
whose decision is final.  Where an application for discretionary rate relief is 
refused an appeal against this decision must be made in writing.  The appeal will 
be considered by Client Support Services Manager or the Revenue & Benefit 
Client Officer, who did not make the original decision. 

13.Appeals will not be entertained where the rateable value of a property exceeds 
£51,000 or there is not any Government funding available.   The appeals process 
will be based on the appeals process in existing discretionary rate relief 
guidelines.

14.Relief will only be awarded up to the end of the financial year in question.  This 
will meet the requirements of Regulation 2 to SI 1989/1059 as there will be no 
revocation and 12 months’ notice to end the relief awarded when not required.

Page 13



- 6 -

Section 1
Shops, Restaurants, Cafes and Drinking Establishments means:

i. Properties that are being used for the sale of goods to visiting members 
of the public:

 Shops (such as: florists, bakers, butchers, grocers, greengrocers, 
jewellers, stationers, off licences, chemists, newsagents, hardware 
stores, supermarkets, etc.)

 Charity shops 
 Opticians
 Post offices
 Furnishing shops/ display rooms (such as: carpet shops, double 

glazing, garage doors)
 Car/ caravan show rooms
 Second hand car lots
 Markets
 Petrol stations
 Garden centres
 Art galleries (where art is for sale/hire)

ii. Properties that are being used for the provision of the following services 
to visiting members of the public:

 Hair and beauty services (such as: hair dressers, nail bars, beauty 
salons, tanning shops, etc.)

 Shoe repairs/ key cutting
 Travel agents
 Ticket offices e.g. for theatre
 Dry cleaners
 Launderettes
 PC/ TV/ domestic appliance repair 
 Funeral directors
 Photo processing 
 Tool hire 
 Car hire 

iii. Properties that are being used for the sale of food and/ or drink to visiting 
members of the public:

 Restaurants
 Takeaways 
 Sandwich shops
 Coffee shops
 Pubs
 Bars

Page 14



- 7 -

Section 2

Properties not considered retail for the purpose of local retail relief

i. Properties that are being used for the provision of the following 
services to visiting members of the public:

 Financial services (e.g. banks, building societies, cash points, bureaux 
de change, payday lenders, betting shops, pawn brokers)

 Other services (e.g. estate agents, letting agents, employment 
agencies)

 Medical services (e.g. vets, dentists, doctors, osteopaths, 
chiropractors)

 Professional services (e.g. solicitors, accountants, insurance agents/ 
financial advisers, tutors)

 Post office sorting offices 

ii.  Properties that are not reasonably accessible to visiting members of 
the public

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Simone Russell
Executive Member: Nick Pace/Duncan Bell
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
SPECIAL CABINET – 22 JANUARY 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES) AND 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR (RESOURCES, ENVIRONMENT AND CULTURAL 
SERVICES)

ESTABLISHING A LOCAL HOUSING COMPANY 

1 Executive Summary

1.1 This report recommends to Cabinet the establishment of a wholly council-owned 
housing company to help meet local housing need.  It is proposed that the 
company would be limited by shares with the council being the sole shareholder.

1.2 The council is responsible for assessing and making plans to meet local housing 
need.  There are currently more than 2000 households on the housing register 
who are waiting for social/affordable housing and just under 100 households in 
temporary accommodation.  

1.3 The 2017 the Local Government Association’s Housing Advisors programme 
identified that there was the potential for the council to provide more homes 
through a new delivery vehicle. In their report the advisors, Campbell Tickell set 
out the potential for using the council’s Housing Revenue Account (HRA) land 
and assets to increase the supply of housing for this purpose, in addition to 
assets which may be acquired by the housing company in the future.

1.4 In response to Campbell Tickell’s report officers within the Housing and 
Communities Team have recently commissioned a number of strands of work to 
move this project forward.  These included an assessment of local affordability 
and demand for housing, an HRA land assessment to identify potential council-
owned sites for housing development and a project to further develop the 
business case for establishing a delivery vehicle to complement the council’s 
affordable housing programme and its current programme of direct housing 
development within the HRA. 

1.5 Findings from this research show that there are around 12000 households within 
the borough who have little if no chance of being offered social housing, but who 
are at the same time not able to afford a housing product at full market price 
(whether rental or purchase). We have identified a number of potential HRA-
owned development sites which we reasonably believe would meet planning 
requirements.  

1.6 The expert advice provided to the council by Red Loft housing and regeneration 
consultancy is that the establishment of a local housing company or other trading 
vehicle will enable our council to develop new homes for a variety of tenures to 
satisfy the identified local demand. It would achieve this by complementing 
existing council housing provision which is currently limited in its range due to the 
strict criteria governing HRA rules.  

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



- 2 -

1.7 The council is able to set up a company under its general powers of competency, 
as legislated in the Localism Act 2011.

1.8 The objectives of the company would be to provide more good quality homes for 
the borough at a cost which is affordable to local people with different types of 
housing need, where this need cannot be met elsewhere in the local market.  
This would also contribute to meeting the council’s business plan objectives.

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 That Cabinet Members agree to the establishment of a local housing company 
which will be wholly owned by the council and limited by shares.

2.2 That Cabinet Members delegate authority to the Corporate Director, (Housing 
and Communities) and Corporate Director, (Resources, Policy and Culture) in 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer, Executive Member, Housing and 
Communities and the Executive Member, Resources, to finalise all the necessary 
legal documentation including the Shareholder Agreement and Articles of 
Association as required to establish the housing company and governance 
arrangements.

2.3 That Cabinet approves the objectives of the company, to be incorporated into the 
business plan of the company, as being:

 Provide good quality, well managed homes for residents in the borough 
of Welwyn Hatfield which people can afford to live in and which 
complement the council’s existing and planned housing provision.

 Support the growing local demand for a mix of housing tenures by 
providing intermediate, low cost home ownership or open market 
homes and letting sub-market and market rented homes;

 Be a financially robust company, generating a surplus to be used for the 
purpose of providing more affordable housing and delivering financial 
returns to the shareholder; 

 Stimulate local housing regeneration and partnership working

2.4 That Cabinet appoints a shareholder representative group to ensure the exercise 
of the council’s rights as shareholder.  Recommended membership of this group 
can be found in the detail of this report, at 3.28.

2.5 That Cabinet note that a further report will be brought to a subsequent Cabinet 
meeting to consider the local housing company business plan and funding 
arrangements and to deal with any consequential matters before the company 
goes live.

3 Explanation

The business case for establishing a housing company

3.1 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council is, like many other councils, finding that the 
demand for new homes is outstripping supply. The council’s current business 
plan 2018-21 identifies housing as one of its five priorities, with the increase of 
housing supply one of the objectives that includes – 

Page 18



- 3 -

  Planning for current and future housing need

  Providing more affordable homes

3.2 With a population growth projected to increase to 122,000 (based upon the mid-
year projections from the last census) the Local Pan indicated 12,000 new homes 
are needed to 2032.   The Local Plan Inspector has subsequently asked the 
council to look for opportunities for around 16,000 houses.

3.3 The borough council is landlord to 9,000 tenancies plus 1,000 leaseholders. 
However, the demand for affordable housing is much higher than the 400 homes 
which become available for let each year by the council and 170 by other social 
landlords operating in our borough1. With around 2000 households on the 
Housing Register at any one time, additional homes are needed to keep up with 
demand for social rented/affordable housing.  There are a number of households 
on the housing needs registers whose requirements could be met with another 
type of housing product, other than social/affordable2 rented housing.

3.4 Some additional social rented homes are delivered through the council’s own 
delivery programme, where 141 new homes were developed or acquired and let 
over the last 6 years. The excellent partnership working with local housing 
associations and developers has seen an additional 34 new homes delivered 
over the last 6 years with the council’s funding support as well as many more 
funded and delivered primarily through S106 agreements. In addition, the council 
has a further 23 new affordable homes under construction and a pipeline of 
around 200 homes at feasibility and planning stages. 

3.5 The Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) was last updated in May 
2017 and identified that at least 793 homes are needed per annum over the plan 
period (2013-2032) and suggests that 818 affordable homes will be needed 
annually over the next five years to clear the backlog while meeting the 
requirements of newly forming households, with annual need falling to 602 
affordable homes per annum once the backlog is cleared.  The SHMA forms part 
of the evidence base for the Local Plan, providing an objective assessment of the 
need (OAN) for housing.  However as set out in 3.2, the Local Plan Inspector has 
requested that the council looks for opportunities for 16,000 houses, instead of 
the 12,000 SHMA target.

3.6 We recognise that housing need in the borough extends beyond what is possible 
through the council’s affordable housing programme.  This housing is either 
social rented or affordable housing and delivered either by the council (social 
rented) or housing association partners (either social rented or affordable rented). 
The council therefore commissioned Savills in August 2018 to provide analysis 
on the range of tenures and housing products that are required within the 
borough and may therefore form priorities for a council-owned housing company.

3.7 The conclusion of that report (see Appendix 1 for the full report) was that there is 
a high demand for sub-market/intermediate homes. Therefore, if high quality 
intermediate type homes could be provided this would reduce pressure from the 

1 Average annual figures for the past three years
2 The term ‘affordable’ can also be used to described up to 80% of market rent, on some housing association 
properties

Page 19



- 4 -

housing needs register, giving a number of households a chance of finding a 
home more quickly through widening their options.

3.8 The Savills research looked at the levels of affordability for the intermediate 
housing at a borough wide level (this is also broken down to five sub-markets in 
main towns) and concluded that those on the lowest incomes are already 
accommodated in the borough council’s own housing stock or have access to the 
to the housing needs register, however the gap in supply affects around 12,000 
households whose income is in the £35,000 to £65,000 range. Of these 
households the majority are able to afford intermediate type housing, especially 
in the smaller bedroom sizes.

3.9 Savills’ analysis of the need of households on the Housing Register indicated 
that 70% required one and two bedroomed homes. It also highlighted that 28% of 
the housing register applicants already live in housing association homes.

3.10 The latest data from HM Land Registry shows that the average property in 
Welwyn Hatfield sold for £392,530 – significantly higher than the UK Average of 
£232,554. Prices have increased by 2.77% over the last 12 months to September 
2018.  The most recent published figures show that the average earnings to 
house price ratio for the borough is around 1:12, the highest ever recorded for 
this borough.

3.11 According to Welwyn Hatfield’s Strategic Housing Report 2016/2017 the use of 
the Private Rented Sector has steadily increased in recent years, with rents in 
Welwyn Hatfield being relatively high - a median rent of £1,325 per month. 

3.12 The council appointed Red Loft housing and regeneration consultants to 
recommend the best way forward for the council to meet local housing need, 
taking into account the findings from the LGA Housing Advisors report (2017), the 
outcome of the research conducted by Savills on affordability and an assessment 
carried out by FFT consultancy of the potential to deliver more housing on the 
council’s HRA land assets.  

3.13 The main benefits of using the council’s own land are:

 Reduced costs – all funds can be used for building, rather than land 
purchase

 Reduced financial risk as there is no risk of 'overpaying' for land

 Ability to attract joint venture partnerships on specific sites where 
appropriate, enabling the council to share risk and benefit from a joint 
venture party's experience whilst being able to influence the type and 
tenure of housing which is built on its land

3.14 The land asset assessment has recommended that sixteen HRA owned sites 
appear feasible (in terms of meeting planning requirements) at the current time, 
with potential output ranging from 16 to 33 units of accommodation per site. This 
does not include the potential to regenerate sheltered housing sites, of which 
there are 25, many being low density and on relatively large footprints.  

3.15 In addition the council would continue to seek ‘windfall’ opportunities with a view 
to providing a mix of tenures on various sites around the borough.  This would 
build upon recent opportunities which have included the purchase of a 54 unit 

Page 20



- 5 -

office to resi flat block and two blocks of flats ‘off plan’ from a major developer 
providing 30 units.

3.16 These opportunities are additional to the 23 new affordable homes under 
construction by the council and some other projects are under consideration.

Staffing arrangements for the housing company

3.17 The work of the company will be carried out by the existing staff resources within 
the council’s Housing and Communities Team.  The nature of the work will be in 
line with current council housing duties performed, the main difference being that 
for tasks relating to the housing company, different branding will be used.  Where 
a point is reached that there is such an expansion of the service which warrants 
additional staff resource, this will be factored into the business planning process 
for the company.  However, it is envisaged that no one will be employed directly 
by the housing company.

3.18 Where staff and directors carry out tasks for both the council and the housing 
company this will be complementary rather than competitive - the housing 
company will be helping to fulfil the council’s strategic business plan objectives.

3.19 This will also provide opportunities for officer time to be recharged to the 
company by the council.

3.20 Where required, variations will be made to job descriptions to reflect the fact that 
some of the duties carried out will be in the name of the housing company.  This 
activity will be carried out in consultation with the staff concerned and the 
council’s Human Resources Team, based on legal advice which will be obtained 
for this purpose.

3.21 Any technical, highly specialised tasks may be provided on a consultancy basis 
or may form part of a partnership/joint venture arrangement.

Potential for partnership working

3.22 The council will continue to work in partnership with housing associations and 
developers to achieve the council’s wider aims for affordable housing growth 
through a variety of delivery routes as it does now. The introduction of the 
company, as an ‘extra tool in the box’, provides potential for these relationships 
to be strengthened further as the council will have a mechanism to get 
commercially involved in individual local projects if it chooses to, [perhaps 
through joint ventures] with the aim of delivering more affordable housing and to 
generate income for the council. This will also help provide more capacity for 
delivery than the council could hope to provide operating as a sole developer for 
every site.

What could a housing company deliver?

3.23 The council sees the introduction of a housing company as an additional 
mechanism or tool to increase the output of homes that will meet local needs, 
such as intermediate or market rented homes, neither of which can be delivered 
within the HRA.  In addition there will be more options for the provision of low 
cost home ownership models than there would be through the HRA alone.

Page 21



- 6 -

3.24 The benefits of setting up a housing company are widely recognised by local 
authorities across the country, with more than 100 having been created over the 
past five years. These councils have been able to deliver a mix of tenures 
appropriate to their local housing conditions. 

Governance

3.25 Initial advice provided by Trowers and Hamlins, an experienced and reputable 
law firm in the public housing sector recommended that the most appropriate 
model going forward will be to set up a company limited by shares, with the 
council being the only shareholder and the Board of the housing company being 
fully accountable to Cabinet.  This advice reflects the recommendation of Red 
Loft.  A company limited by shares provides a simple structure and will give 
Members assurance through the council’s ownership of the company.  As such 
we are recommending this approach, using the general power of competency in 
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011.  

3.26 As sole shareholder the council would be able to exert control over the strategic 
function of the company, including:

 to agree its objectives and other aspects of its business plan
 to ratify appointments of directors to the Board.
 to receive prescribed reports to demonstrate that the company is meeting 

its agreed business plan objectives. 

3.27 Alignment with the council, in addition to the constitutional control set out above, 
will be through the following:

 A shareholder agreement which sets out the objectives of the housing 
company and governance arrangements, including the obligations of 
both the shareholder (the council) and the company.  The Shareholder 
Agreement will include monitoring arrangements for the company and 
each party’s responsibilities attached to these.

 A business plan or plans covering both specific investment opportunities 
and longer term financial planning. The business plan will set out the 
financial forecasts for the company requiring approval from the council 
before the company can start trading

 Any requirements imposed by the council, in its capacity as local 
planning authority.

 Conditions imposed by the council on the terms of sale on any 
assets acquired from the council 

 A loan agreement setting out the terms on which the company can use 
funds borrowed from the council

3.28 As per the advice and recommendations made by both Red Loft and Trowers 
and Hamlins it is therefore proposed that:

 The only shareholder of the company will be the council and Cabinet 
will ensure that the wider strategic interests of the council are served by 

Page 22



- 7 -

the company.  Cabinet will appoint a representative group to ensure the 
exercise of the council's rights as shareholder. 

 The shareholder representative group will consist of the council’s Head 
of Paid Service (Chief Executive), Section 151 officer and Monitoring 
Officer.  The shareholder representative group will receive monthly 
updates on the activities of the company from its directors.

3.29 The council will need to appoint directors of the company. Based on advice from 
Red Loft and Towers and Hamlins it is proposed that the directors will be the 
Corporate Director, Housing and Communities, Head of Housing Operations, 
Head of Community and Housing Strategy, Head of Property Services and a 
Manager from the council’s Development Team.  There will also be the 
opportunity to appoint of a suitable independent non-executive director, drawn 
from a relevant profession, to bring their expertise and experience.  

3.30 The responsibilities of the directors will be set out in the Shareholder Agreement 
and in the Articles of Association for the Company.  The responsibilities will be to 
ensure the effective operation of the company, so that the objectives of the 
Company are met, as set out in 2.2 above, Cabinet should note that more than 
100 councils have successfully put in place appropriate governance 
arrangements for housing companies and the arrangements being proposed 
have been tried and tested many times previously.

Business plan

3.31 As stated in 4.24 a business plan will be prepared and presented to members for 
approval before the company starts operating. This will be updated annually and 
the company’s progress against the business plan will be monitored by Cabinet, 
upon the recommendation of Cabinet Housing Panel.

Implications

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 The council has powers to establish a local housing company and trade under its 
general powers of competence (Localism Act 2011).

4.2 Subject to Cabinet approval of this proposal it would be necessary to appoint a 
suitably qualified and experienced firm of external legal advisors to establish the 
company, draft all necessary legal agreements arising, including appropriate 
governance arrangements, to ensure that the council’s legal position is protected 
at all times. 

5 Risk Management Implications

5.1 The risks related to this proposal are set out below.  They relate to establishing a 
housing company and subject to approval by Cabinet a further risk assessment 
will be carried out in relation to a housing company business plan. The residual 
risk score is taking account of the recommendations in the report being agreed:

Health and wellbeing risk

5.2 Households living in unsuitable and unaffordable accommodation are at risk of 
poor health and wellbeing.  This is a significant issue given the identified housing 

Page 23



- 8 -

need.  The provision of additional homes which are of a high quality and affordable 
to live in will reduce this risk.  Likelihood Medium, Impact Medium.  Residual risk 
score: Likelihood Low, Impact Medium.

Financial Risk

5.3 The cost of managing increasing levels of threatened homelessness, including 
using bed and breakfast is high.  Meeting the identified housing need by providing 
a range of appropriate tenure options will reduce this risk.  Likelihood High; Impact 
High.  Residual risk score Likelihood Low; Impact High.

Reputational Risk

5.4 Homelessness in the borough and the use of temporary accommodation including 
bed and breakfast is likely to result in reputational risk to the council.  Providing 
additional homes in the borough to meet local housing need will help reduce the 
number of people who are at risk or who become homeless and will demonstrate 
the council’s commitment to taking all possible measures to reduce homelessness, 
thereby reducing the reputational risk.  Likelihood High; Impact High.  Residual risk 
score Likelihood Low; Impact High.

Governance risks

5.5 The company will not be able to fulfil its functions if there is not appropriate 
separation from the council/outside the remit of the HRA.  This is because the HRA 
restricts the range of housing offers which would be available through a housing 
company.  Developing appropriate Articles of Association following legal advice, 
including creating a separate Board will mitigate this risk. In addition officers who 
are both Board Members and council employees will need to ensure that when 
carrying out each of these activities, they are mindful of their specific 
responsibilities at the time. Likelihood Medium, Impact High. Residual risk score: 
Likelihood Low, Impact High

5.6 The council will not maintain control over the strategic direction and borrowing 
limits of the company if an appropriate company structure is not used.  Following 
legal advice to create a company limited by shares, with the council as the sole 
shareholder, combined with appropriate governance arrangements (i.e. appointing 
a shareholder representative group and putting in place appropriate arrangements 
for Cabinet to monitor the company’s progress against the business plan) will 
mitigate this risk. Likelihood Medium, Impact High. Residual risk score: Likelihood 
Low, Impact High

6 Financial Implication(s)

6.1 The cost of establishing the housing company would be met by existing budgets.  

6.2 Although the housing company will be wholly owned by the council, it is a 
separate legal entity.  Therefore it will have its own financial ledger, tax advisor 
and audit arrangements.  

6.3 The funding position of the company, as well as all the other operational financial 
matters and longer term financial planning will be included in the business plan.  
These will be presented to Members in due course and as stated earlier in this 

Page 24



- 9 -

report, no trading will take place within the company until this has been approved 
by Cabinet.

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1 There are no implications arising from this report.

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1 Subject to Cabinet approval of this report external legal advisors will need to be 
appointed by the council, to proceed with establishing the company.  This 
process will be in accordance with the council’s procurement rules.

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1 There are no implications arising from this report.

10 Human Resources Implication(s)

10.1 No additional staff will be recruited for the purpose of establishing the company.

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s)

11.1 There is a clear link between health and housing.  The provision of quality, 
secure housing will have a positive impact on peoples’ health.

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s)

12.1 A communications plan will be developed to publicise the establishment of the 
company and the benefits it will bring to households in the borough.

13 Link to Corporate Priorities

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the council’s Corporate Priority ‘Our 
Housing’ and relates to all the objectives within this, including, being a quality 
landlord, meeting housing need, providing affordable homes and driving up 
housing quality in the borough

14 Equality and Diversity

14.1 An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to 
existing service-related policies or the development of new service-related 
policies. 

Where new services are developed through the local housing company, EqIAs 
will be completed in accordance with the council’s Equality Policy.

Name of author Simone Chinman Russell
Title Corporate Director, Housing and Communities
Date 2 January 2019

Appendices 

1. Report by Savills – Welwyn Hatfield Market and Affordability Analysis

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3a Budget 2019/20
	3b Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 14 January 2019
	3c Retail Relief Guidelines and Business Rate 2018 Budget Changes
	4 ESTABLISHING A LOCAL HOUSING COMPANY

